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Ohio Board of Deposit 
Merchant Services Request for Proposal  

Respondent Questions and Treasurer’s Office Answers 
November 26, 2025 

 

General Questions 
 

Respondent Question Treasurer’s Office Answer 

Which vendors, if any, were involved in providing input 
or feedback related to the requirements and/or scope 
of this solicitation? 

No vendors participated in the drafting of this RFP. 
 

Was the current vendor involved in providing input or 
feedback during the development of this solicitation’s 
requirements or scope? 

No. 

Are all agencies required to use the winning vendor? Pursuant to ORC section 113.40, Agencies are required to 
use end processor(s) approved by the Board of Deposit 
(“BOD”). 

State Universities [sic] are they included in the 
contract? 
 

No, state universities are not included in the scope of this 
RFP, just state entities as defined in ORC section 113.40. 

What are the Treasurer's Office’s key goals as it 
pertains to this solicitation? 

The key goals and objectives can be found on pp. 3 - 4 
and p. 11, Section 1.9 of the RFP.  

General Information: What are your future payment 
strategy initiatives for the next 1-3 years? 3+? 

Pursuant to ORC section 113.40, financial transaction 
devices (methods of payment) must be approved by the 
BOD. The BOD recently approved development of a 
centralized payment portal that will facilitate payments 
via card, cryptocurrency, ACH, and e-check. Agencies may 
choose to use the centralized payment portal once it is 
developed or they may utilize a different gateway. 

Are there any payment channels you would like to add, 
such as: text-to-pay, email link-to-pay, bill portal to 
present invoices, IVR, etc.? 

Each Agency determines the services it will need to 
accept card payments. The Agency, its gateway, 
Treasurer’s Office, and the end processor would work 
together to provide the services. 

As part of the Receivables [sic] ecosystem will the State 
also utilize the acceptance of ACH at the Point-of-sale 
or online “checkout”? 

This RFP only pertains to end credit card processing 
services and does not speak to the inclusion of ACH as a 
payment method. 

Does the Treasurer's Office view this procurement as 
an opportunity to modernize its payment ecosystem 
and improve the experience for constituents and 
department staff, or primarily to maintain continuity of 
service? 

Continuity of service is the priority. However, the 
Treasurer’s Office is always looking for ways to provide 
services in a more efficient, safe, and secure manner.   

Has the Treasurer's Office conducted a formal 
performance or satisfaction review of the incumbent 
vendor in advance of this solicitation, and if so, can the 
findings be shared?  

No such review has been conducted. 
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General Questions (continued) 

Respondent Question Treasurer’s Office Answer 

What would the Treasurer's Office change about its 
current level of service and support? 

The BOD and Treasurer’s Office are always looking for 
ways to better provide services in an efficient, safe, and 
secure manner. 

p. 5, Section 1.1: Please amend the sentence 
“Specifically, the Services requested are for end 
merchant processing and settlement services and not 
for gateway processing services.” To the following: 
Specifically, the Services requested are for end 
merchant processing and settlement services and can 
include orchestration layer APIs to perform functions 
such as authorizations, refunds and voids. The above 
orchestration layer is not a gateway but may be used 
by gateways to integrate to the merchant services 
provider. 

TOS will not revise the language used in the RFP. 
Any respondent selected as a Respondent Finalist may 
bring this up during its oral interview.  

What API or file formats are required for integration? 
 

The Treasurer’s Office is open to working with a BOD 
approved vendor on the file format or API. The preferred 
file format can be found HERE. 

Are there any API integrations or complex setups with 
any of the existing agency gateways? 

Agencies and their gateways are responsible for the 
connection with a BOD approved end processor; 
therefore, the Treasurer’s Office does not have this 
information. 

1.1 Summary of Prospective Services: Please list the 
make and model of card-present terminals currently in 
use. Are card-present terminals currently integrated 
into a point-of-sale system, or are they standalone 
terminals? Is the State’s preference to have standalone 
terminals or integrated? Do you require service-fee 
capabilities on terminals? What is your IVR software? 
Can the State please provide more detailed transaction 
flows, including gateways, equipment, and front-end 
applications? 

Credit card terminals are the responsibility of the 
Agencies; therefore, the Treasurer’s Office does not have 
information about make or model, whether the terminals 
are integrated or standalone, or whether the terminals 
have service fee capabilities. The Agencies select their 
own IVR software; therefore, the Treasurer’s Office does 
not have this information. The Agencies select their own 
gateways, equipment, and front-end applications; 
therefore, the Treasurer’s Office does not have this 
information. 

p. 28, Section 5.0: Please provide the quantity and 
model number of the credit card terminals by agency 
for those agencies taking part in the services provided 
under this RFP. 

Credit card terminals are the responsibility of the 
Agencies; therefore, the Treasurer’s Office does not have 
this information. 

p. 28, Section 5.0: Please provide a list of gateways that 
provide their own credit card terminals for card present 
transactions along with the quantity and model number 
of the credit card terminals by agency. 

Credit card terminals are the responsibility of the 
Agencies; therefore, the Treasurer’s Office does not have 
this information. 

p. 28, Section 5.0: For any gateways that provide their 
own credit card terminals should the respondent of this 
RFP consider the replacement of those terminals as in 
scope under this RFP? 

Credit card terminals are the responsibility of the 
Agencies. Replacement of terminals is outside the scope 
of this RFP. 

  

https://tos.ohio.gov/Files/Pdfs/RFP/File%20Specifications.pdf
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General Questions (continued) 

Respondent Question Treasurer’s Office Answer 

RFP Section 5.0, p. 28, & Appendix 5: In addition to the 
listed gateways, if applicable, what is the make and 
model of any standalone (non-integrated) credit card 
terminals being used? 

Credit card terminals are the responsibility of the 
Agencies; therefore, the Treasurer’s Office does not have 
this information. 
  

Can you provide a list of terminals being used by each 
agency: make, model, and number of devices being 
used? 

Terminals are the responsibility of the Agencies; 
therefore, the Treasurer’s Office does not have this 
information. 

p. 28, Section 5.0: For the agencies that use credit card 
terminals which agencies process directly to the 
merchant services provider bypassing the payment 
gateway. [sic] 

The Treasurer’s Office does not have this information. 

Summary and Objectives: Who is providing the point-
of-sale system for card-present transactions, currently? 

Many Agencies have purchased their POS terminals 
directly from the current merchant services provider. 

Please share the volume/transaction distribution by 
Agency. (e.g. Agency -> Volume -> Trans) 

The Treasurer’s Office only has this information in the 
aggregate, not by Agency.  

Can you provide the ratio of card present vs. card not 
present for each agency? 

The Treasurer’s Office does not have this information. 

Can you provide ratio for credit cards vs. debit cards for 
each agency? 

The Treasurer’s Office does not have this information. 

Are any of the gateways displaying invoices for 
payment? 

The Treasurer’s Office does not have this information. 
Gateways are outside the scope of this RFP. 

For files that require uploading for cardholders to pay 
(e.g. Invoices, Taxes, Utilities), please share the file 
format type and systems connected to each agency 
and/or the required systems of integration for each 
touchpoint. 

The Treasurer’s Office does not have this information. 
Requirements for payments are provided on each 
Agency's website where payees retrieve their payment 
information. This is outside the scope of this RFP.   

p.5, Section 1.1: Please provide a list indicating which 
agencies pass service fees to the consumers.  

Each Agency determines if service fees are applicable and 
how they will be applied; therefore, the Treasurer’s 
Office does not have this information. 

p. 5, Section 1.1: For the agencies that pass a service 
fee to the consumers please provide a list by agency 
that includes the current service fee amount 
percentage or flat rate or combination (% + $). 

Each Agency determines if service fees are applicable and 
how they will be applied; therefore, the Treasurer’s 
Office does not have this information. 

p. 5, Section 1.1: For each of the agencies that pass a 
service fee to the consumers who manages the service 
fee? The agency, the gateway provider, a software 
application provider, or the current merchant service 
provider, WorldPay? 

Each state agency determines if service fees are 
applicable and how they will be applied; therefore, the 
Treasurer’s Office does not have this information. 

Section 1.1, p. 6: Please list the Agencies that assess a 
service, convenience, or user fee along with the 
amount of the fee assessed. 

Each state agency determines if service fees are 
applicable and how they will be applied; therefore, the 
Treasurer’s Office does not have this information. 

  



BOD Merchant Services Request for Proposal   
Respondent Questions & Treasurer’s Office Answers  Page 4 of 15 

General Questions (continued) 

Respondent Question Treasurer’s Office Answer 

Service Fee questions: How many agencies use Service 
Fee [sic] today? How many agencies are considering 
using Service Fee [sic] in the near future? What is the 
annual dollar amount processed through Service Fee 
[sic]? What is the annual transaction amount processed 
through Service Fee [sic]? 

Each state agency determines if service fees are 
applicable and how they will be applied; therefore, the 
Treasurer’s Office does not have this information. 

General Information: Is the State of Ohio open to the 
possibility of implementing a Convenience Fee [sic] 
model due to recent rulling [sic] changes?  

Convenience fees are determined by each state agency. 

Does the state currently utilize Managed Service Fee 
[sic] programs to assess fees to cardholders utilizing 
credit/debit cards for payment?  

No, each state agency determines how they will assess 
their fees and any associated fees, such as convenience 
fees. 

p.5, Section 1.1: Does the current merchant services 
provider, WorldPay, offer a managed service fee 
program to any agency in which WorldPay keeps the 
fee after interchange costs are paid to the card brands? 
If yes, please indicate which agencies participate in this 
model and the current service fee amount by agency. 

No, this service is not utilized with the current merchant 
services provider. 
 

General Information: Is the State of Ohio receptive to 
restructuring its account hierarchy and billing 
framework? 

Any Respondent Finalist may describe what it 
recommends for hierarchy and billing frameworks during 
their oral interview. 

General Information: Is the State of Ohio currently 
considering the implementation of a fraud prevention 
solution? 

The Treasurer’s Office is continually working with its 
vendors to identify and implement best practices for 
fraud prevention and risk mitigation. 

[Name redacted] respectfully requests an extension of 
the timeline for the final RFP submission due to the 
upcoming Thanksgiving holiday. 

To ensure the process is completed in time for the 
January 2026 BOD meeting, no extensions will be 
granted. 

In order to allow for sufficient time to review Q&A and 
all documents related to this procurement, we are 
requesting a two (2) week extension to the current bid 
deadline. 

To ensure the process is completed in time for the 
January 2026 BOD meeting, no extensions will be 
granted. 

p. 6, Section 1.5: Due to the Thanksgiving Holiday will 
the State provide an extension until Wednesday, 
December 17th? 

To ensure the process is completed in time for the 
January 2026 BOD meeting, no extensions will be 
granted. 

General Information: Would the State of Ohio consider 
an extension on submission given the pending U.S. 
holiday? 

To ensure the process is completed in time for the 
January 2026 BOD meeting, no extensions will be 
granted. 

Will the State award this RFP to a single prime vendor 
who is required to manage any necessary sub-vendors, 
or is the State open to awarding multiple vendors 
based on specific lines of business (LOB) or 
functionality? 

The BOD is open to awarding a Merchant Services 
Agreement to more than one vendor and allowing 
Agencies to select which vendor they choose to use. 
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General Questions (continued) 

Respondent Question Treasurer’s Office Answer 

Will the State of Ohio accept a proposal that is limited 
to the acceptance of a single brand (e.g., American 
Express). 

Yes. 

Will the State of Ohio accept a proposal for a brand 
that does not include processing capabilities? 

The BOD will accept a proposal from a single card 
processing brand; however, the Respondent must still 
qualify under the requirements of the RFP in order to be 
considered for Evaluation Stage Two. 

Section 1.6: Will you accept an Executive Summary 
included in our response? 

Respondents may include additional information in the 
response so long as they also provide the information 
requested in the RFP. 

p. 7, Section 1.6: Per the statement “NOTE: Any 
alterations, changes, or deletions made by the 
Respondent to the original RFP as issued may be 
grounds for disqualification” – is it the State’s intent for 
the vendor to use the forms provided by the State with 
only filled in data and NO format updates? For 
example, is it permissible for vendors to insert 
completed forms into our response that includes our 
own branded headers and footers as long as all form 
content is consistent with the provided forms? 

Respondents may use their own logos, trademarks, etc.; 
however, no language in the RFP may be altered and the 
Respondent must maintain the numbering configurations 
as set forth in the RFP. 

p. 9, Section 1.7: Please confirm the RFP identifier to be 
used for submission purposes. Is it “Request for 
Proposal Financial Transaction Device Acceptance, 
Processing, and Settlement Services” or is it “Ohio 
Treasurer Request for Proposal Merchant Services, SFY 
2026- 2030” or another identifier? 

Request for Proposal for Financial Transaction Device 
Acceptance, Processing, and Settlement Services. 

p. 12, Section 1.10: Are References required along with 
our initial proposal response? Section 1.9 Respondent 
Evaluation Process on page 11-12 of te [sic] RFP 
document states Reference Checks: Respondent 
Finalists will be asked to provide at least three 
references, with at least one reference being a public 
sector entity. But section 1.10 Evaluation Criteria has 
References (acceptable/unacceptable) listed as well. 
Please clarify when we are required to submit our 
references (1) in our response to RFP or (2) after 
finalists are notified. 

References are to be submitted with the Response to the 
RFP. If a Respondent is selected as a Respondent Finalist, 
it may provide additional references. 
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General Questions (continued) 

Respondent Question Treasurer’s Office Answer 

p. 10, Sections 1.9 & 1.10: The minimum requirements 
are listed within Section 3 – Minimum Requirements 
and Section 4 Organizational Information contradict the 
evaluation of the potential 40 points (for and the Ability 
to Meet Requirements and Provide Desired Services 
and Functionality in Sections 3 through 5 and 
(Acceptable/ Unacceptable of Section 4 Organizational 
Structure and History) language used within the table 
of Section 1.10 Evaluation Criteria to equate to a 
maximum score of 100 points.  
 
Is the State considering revising the language within 
Section 1.9 Respondent Evaluation Process to remove 
the “Those Respondents failing to address all minimum 
requirements shall be eliminated from further 
consideration” or is it the State’s intent to update 
and/or adjust the points and acceptable/unacceptable 
language within the table of Section 1.10 Evaluation 
criteria?  
 
Additionally, is it the State’s objective to include points 
for oral interviews under Stage Two: Respondent 
Finalists per the language “An evaluation of the 
Respondent’s Response in accordance with the 
evaluation criteria set forth in Section 1.10?” The table 
currently does not reflect separate points for oral 
interviews. 

The Treasurer’s office does not find any contradiction in 
the scoring criteria. Scoring for each criterion will include 
information from the indicated areas of each response. 
  
The State will not revise or adjust point values. If a 
Respondent does not address a minimum requirement, it 
will not be considered for further evaluation and will be 
deemed non-responsive. 
  
There are no separate points for oral interviews. Per 
Section 1.10 of the RFP, rankings take into account oral 
interviews and references in addition to the written 
response. 

When does the current contract with WorldPay expire? The current Merchant Services Agreement ends April 30, 
2026. 

Why is the Treasurer's Office issuing this bid at this 
time? Is there a critical event (e.g., expiring contract, 
new functionality needs) that necessitates issuing this 
RFP at this particular time? 

The current Merchant Services Agreement ends April 30, 
2026. 

Can you reconcile the 2 requirements: the contract due 
date is 4/30/26 – the go live of 5/1/26; is this still valid? 

The Merchant Services Agreement must be executed no 
later than April 30, 2026. The go live date of May 1, 2026, 
indicates that work may begin with the Agencies to 
implement end processing services. 

If our bid is selected by the state to offer Merchant 
Services to each agency, is there a requirement to start 
processing by a specific date or are we added to a list of 
preferred providers by the state? 

Each Agency will utilize an end processor approved by the 
BOD.  No dates are determined when processing begins; 
that is dependent on each Agency. 
 

What support is earmarked to assist in implementation 
from each agency? 

The Treasurer’s Office works with the Agency, their 
gateway, and the end processor to implement payment 
card services. 
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Terms and Conditions 
 

Respondent Question Treasurer’s Office Answer 

p. 14, Section 2: Is it the State’s objective to include a 
number (points) towards deducted points for 
“Deviations from RFP requirements and Contract 
Language”? 
 
We are trying to understand how to reach the 
maximum potential points of 100 and the calculations 
of reaching those points. As the solicitation currently 
does not contain any language towards this attainment, 
will the State consider adding language to explain the 
formula and/or calculation? 

There are no specific point values that are deducted for 
deviations. The deviations are considered when 
evaluating a Respondent’s answer to a question. 
Deviations to the Contract Language in Appendix 4 are 
also reviewed as to a Respondent’s ability to contract 
with the State. 

p. 14, Section 2.3: Will the State consider a response of 
“Partially Comply” as an acceptable “Does Comply” 
response or should a deviation be noted within Exhibit 
3 detailing how a specific requirement is partially met? 

Please use Exhibit 3 to note a deviation along with a full 
explanation of the partial compliance. 

The RFP states that the Board has awarded a Digital 
Payment Services Agreement to Grant Street Group to 
develop a centralized payment portal that “will not 
supplant back-end Processors.” Could the Treasurer’s 
Office clarify the extent to which constituent-facing or 
digital payment experiences (e.g., web-based or mobile 
interfaces) fall within the scope of that existing Grant 
Street agreement versus this Merchant Services 
procurement? 

Any card transactions initiated through the centralized 
payment portal must utilize an end processor that is 
selected through this RFP. 
 

General Information: How will Grant Street work with 
back-end processors? 

Any card transactions initiated through the centralized 
payment portal must utilize an end processor that is 
selected through this RFP. 

General Information: Can you share portal design specs 
and process flowchart of the digital wallet proposal? 
Integration plans/expectations 

The contract for the centralized payment portal has not 
been executed; therefore, no design work has been done. 

2.4 General Requirement – this is to confirm we are 
able to support/work with Grant Street, not have a 
cryptocurrency offering – correct? 

This RFP pertains only to end processing services for 
cards. Grant Street card transactions will be processed 
through a BOD-approved end processor. 

2.4 General Information: Are Respondents required to 
use/work with the Grant Street Group customer portal 
in the future? What, if any, are the transaction flow 
requirements to support this portal? Who is processing 
cryptocurrency wallet payments, currently? Does Grant 
Street Group require a specific gateway, or is the State 
willing to integrate into any gateway? 

Agencies select their own gateways and may choose to 
use the centralized payment portal once it is developed. 
The contract for the centralized payment portal has not 
been executed; therefore, no information is available 
about the cryptocurrency processor. The centralized 
payment portal will be its own gateway and will be 
required to work with an end card processor selected 
through this RFP process. The centralized payment portal 
will be the only approved way that Agencies will accept 
cryptocurrency. 
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Terms and Conditions (continued) 

Respondent Question Treasurer’s Office Answer 

Will agencies supported by the Treasurer have 
flexibility to use constituent-facing solutions provided 
by the Merchant Services Provider, such as hosted 
payment pages or integrated online payment 
experiences, or must all Treasurer's Office web and 
mobile payments route through the Grant Street 
portal? 

Agencies select their own gateways and may choose to 
use the centralized payment portal once it is developed. 
Any card transactions must utilize an end processor that 
is selected through this RFP. 

How should Respondents view the relationship 
between the Grant Street portal and the awarded 
Merchant Services Provider in terms of user 
experience? For instance, will the Merchant Services 
Provider interact directly with constituents, or will all 
constituent interactions occur solely through the Grant 
Street environment? 

Agencies select their own gateways and may choose to 
use the centralized payment portal once it is developed. 
Any card transactions must utilize an end processor that 
is selected through this RFP. 

Based on our review of the prior Digital Payment 
Services RFP issued earlier this year (awarded to Grant 
Street Group), our understanding is that the awarded 
solution provides payment endpoints for digital wallets 
and digital assets, tied into the Treasurer’s Office 
Payment Manager environment and the State’s back-
end processing structure, rather than a centralized, 
constituent-facing portal for all Treasurer's Office 
payments. Could the Treasurer’s Office please confirm 
whether this understanding is correct? Specifically: 
(A). Does the existing Digital Payment Services 
Agreement cover only payment acceptance and 
conversion functionality for digital wallet and digital 
asset transactions (i.e., endpoints), or does it include a 
broader, centralized resident-facing payment 
experience? If so, (B). If the scope is limited to backend 
digital payment processing, would the Merchant 
Services Provider selected under this RFP be permitted 
to continue providing Treasurer's Office- or service-
specific constituent-facing payment experiences? 

Agencies select their own gateways and may choose to 
use the centralized payment portal once it is developed. 
The contract for the centralized payment portal has not 
been executed. The centralized payment portal will be 
required to work with an end card processor selected 
through this RFP process. 
 

 
 
Minimum Requirements 
 

Respondent Question Treasurer’s Office Answer 

For requirement 3.0.1; will the agencies be comfortable 
with receiving memo posts at roughly 10AM EST and 
funding at 1PM EST the following day. This is provided 
with access to reporting near real time to validated 
batches. 

The requirements are set out in the RFP. Please use 
Exhibit 3 to note any deviations. 
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Minimum Requirements (continued) 

Respondent Question Treasurer’s Office Answer 

3.0 Minimum Requirements, 1.b: Can the Treasurer’s 
Office please confirm the following? 
(A). That an example of file data elements can be found 
in Appendix 6 (vs. Appendix 5).  (B). That the example 
file data elements (found in Appendix 6) are to be 
delivered via daily electronic files and that these details 
are to match the ACH file reference data (i.e., details 
displayed in a DDA account based on how the financial 
files are sent to the depository bank by the 
Respondent)? 

(A). The Treasurer’s Office previously sent an email to all 
organizations which requested the RFP clarifying that the 
example of file data elements is Appendix 6, not 
Appendix 5. (B). Yes. 

3.0 Minimum Requirements, 1.d: Can the Treasurer’s 
Office please confirm that inclusion of the unique 
identifier for each store/division within the MID will 
suffice, or is a specific logic in the structuring of 
customer merchant numbers (“MIDs”) is required? 

No, a unique identifier will not suffice within the MID. 
The assigned MID must correlate with the store/division 
number as established by the Treasurer’s Office.  

3.0.1.d – custom MIDS with each request. [sic] Not 
asking for the methodology, but can there be some 
randomness be [sic] included in the MID? 

MIDs are determined by the end processor. 

3.0 Minimum Requirements, 1.e: Can the Treasurer’s 
Office please confirm that “invoice” refers to a 
“statement” or “merchant statement” containing the 
details described in Sections 3.0.33 and elsewhere in 
the RFP? 

Yes, “invoice” refers to a “statement” or “merchant 
statement”. 

p. 16, Section 3.0.6: Please specify which documents, 
agreements, and service terms will be incorporated 
into the Merchant Services Agreement. 

The contents of any Merchant Services Agreement will be 
determined during the contract negotiations with any 
selected end processors. 

Can you clarify expectations: 3.0.16 Are you looking for 
us to confirm weekdays availability only, or are you also 
requesting weekends and holidays? 

Please address availability on weekends and holidays in 
addition to the availability from Monday to Friday. 

Critical vs. Non-Critical Issues - What defines critical vs. 
non-critical? Are SLAs negotiable? 

Critical issues are issues that expose the State to risk or 
fraud, or impede the processing and settlement of 
transactions. Non-critical issues could be general 
questions about services or data. SLAs are negotiable. 

p. 18, Section 3.0.24: Please define what data are 
subject to this requirement 

Data can refer to any information collected by the end 
processor. 

3.0.29 and Appendix 6 Data Elements: Can you provide 
the source and specifications behind the data in the 
Appendix 6 data elements? (A). Does the data have to 
presented [sic] in the exact format or another format if 
all data is present? 

Appendix 6 delineates the minimum data elements 
currently ingested by OAKS. The format will be 
determined during implementation. 

API or Gateway Connected to OAKS - What integration 
exists with OAKS (Ohio Administrative Knowledge 
System)? 

The data transmission file is sent via SFTP direct 
transmission and uploaded. 
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Minimum Requirements (continued) 

Respondent Question Treasurer’s Office Answer 

p. 19, Section 3.0: Question related to the requirement, 
integration of the State treasury data file directly into 
OAKS is preferred: is real time integration to the 
general ledger preferred (revenue posted), expenses 
posted monthly via batch GL imports, or does the state 
currently post payments directly against invoices in the 
Accounts Receivable (AR) module real time? Please 
define what is done today and what is preferred going 
forward. 

Prior day revenue (pay-in) data is received and posted 
into OAKS the following Business Day. Expenses are key-
entered in OAKS when paid by the individual Agency. 
OAKS does not have an Accounts Receivable module. 
Each Agency has its own Accounts Receivable system. A 
BOD approved end processor sends the Agency’s gateway 
“fail” or “succeed” for each transaction processed 
through the credit card networks. 

Section 3.0.32: Can you please elaborate on SLA 
expectations 

SLA expectations and penalties for non-performance will 
be part of the contract negotiations with any selected 
end processors. 

 

Organizational Information 
 

Respondent Question Treasurer’s Office Answer 

Section 4.0.10: What are the State of Ohios [sic] top 5 
Gateway provoders [sic]?  

Agencies select their own gateways; therefore, the 
Treasurer’s Office does not have this information. 

Can you clarify: 4.2.1 Existing Relationships question – 
is this specific to other State of Ohio Agencies not listed 
or all of Public Sector [sic] clients in our portfolio? 

This is specific to State of Ohio Agencies. 

Section 4.21 [sic] states to list all current Merchant 
relationships with every Treasurer's Office [sic] not 
included in Appendix 2. Is this for State of Ohio 
Agencies only?  If not, please clarify.  

List State of Ohio Agencies only. 

Does each agency pay for monthly PCI compliance 
support per MID or is it managed as a whole by the 
State? 

Each Agency is responsible for maintaining PCI DSS 
compliance, whether through a BOD-approved end 
processor or a separate vendor. 

 
 
Functional Requirements 
 

Respondent Question Treasurer’s Office Answer 

RFP Section 5.0, p. 28: If a gateway does not have direct 
certification with [name redacted], are you open to 
using an alternative connection method to integrate 
with these gateways? 

The gateway would have to become certified with the 
selected end processors. 

p. 28, Section 5.0: Does the State or any participating 
agency have their own American Express service 
establishment (SE) number? Can the merchant services 
provider offer American Express Full Service [sic] 
authorization and settlement (OptBlue)? 

The Treasurer’s Office currently holds a separate 
agreement with American Express. The Treasurer’s Office 
applies for SE numbers on behalf of the Agencies; 
Agencies do not have separate agreements with 
American Express. 
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Functional Requirements (continued) 

Respondent Question Treasurer’s Office Answer 

p.28, Section 5.0: For any agency wishing to have 
American Express full service please provide the annual 
transaction count, processing volume$, [sic] and 
average ticket size amount for each agency. 

The Treasurer’s Office only has the aggregate information 
as shown in Appendix 3 and does not have the average 
ticket sale amount. This information is not available by 
Agency, only in aggregate. 

RFP Section 5.1, p. 29, & Appendix 6: Our merchant 
order number field supports up to 22 alphanumeric 
characters, but your data element example shows a 
longer field. Is it possible to reduce the field length to 
22 characters and still meet your reporting 
requirements? 

Please use Exhibit 3 to note any deviations.   

Does that [sic] State have any specific requirements 
that are necessary to interface with OAKS (e.g., certain 
formats, data fields, transmission timing, etc.)? 

Please see Section 5.1.4 of the RFP for timing of 
transmissions. The minimum data elements currently 
ingested by OAKS are in Appendix 6. The format will be 
determined during implementation. 

Can the State provide any additional insights as to what 
all is encompassed in the ask for customized reporting? 
What part is required? What is optional and/or future 
state?  

Please see Section 5.6.5 of the RFP for required reporting. 
The need for customized reporting will be dependent 
upon what is not included in the Respondent’s standard 
reporting. 

Do you require Level II/III data capture? For PCI compliance, Level III is required. 

Are there state guidelines for tokenization? All PCI related data, at a minimum, must be 
tokenized. The Treasurer’s Office does not have the State 
guidelines for tokenization. 

Do any agencies have any Tokenization through 
WorldPay or are they specific solution/gateway being 
used today? (A). Who owns the tokens? 

This information is specific to an Agency; therefore, the 
Treasurer’s Office does not have this information. 

 
 
Fees 
 

Respondent Question Treasurer’s Office Answer 

RFP Section 3.0, p. 15: Are all fees invoiced on a 
calendar schedule, or do some agencies operate on a 
fiscal schedule? 

All Agencies operate on a fiscal year. 

Fee Structure Confirmation - The State says that FEES 
[sic] will not be adjusted during the first 4 years of the 
agreement. Please confirm that this refers to Merchant 
Processor fees only. 

Confirmed; this refers to Merchant Processor fees only. 

 
 
Appendices and Exhibits 
 

Respondent Question Treasurer’s Office Answer 

Appendix 2: Are there any state agencies that do not or 
will not participate in procuring services under this 
RFP? 

Pursuant to ORC section 113.40, Agencies are required to 
use end processor(s) approved by the BOD. 
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Appendices and Exhibits (continued) 

Respondent Question Treasurer’s Office Answer 

Appendix 2: Please list any agencies that do not or will 
not participate in procuring services under this RFP and 
provide their annual processing volume$ [sic] and 
transaction accounts.  

Pursuant to ORC section 113.40, Agencies are required to 
use end processor(s) approved by the BOD.  

Appendix 2 & 5: Please provide the total number of 
merchant IDs and gateways each agency will have and 
use. 

The information can be found HERE. 

Number of Merchant IDs (MIDs) [sic] - How many 
merchant accounts per agency? 

The information can be found HERE. 

Can you provide a list of MIDs for each agency with 
channel per MID? (e.g. 2 Point-of-sale MIDS, 1 Gateway 
MID, 1 IVR MID) 

The Treasurer’s Office does not have this information. 

Appendix 2: Please provide a list of existing ERP/CIS 
systems for each Agency. 

The Treasurer’s Office does not have this information. 

For each of the Gateways utilized throughout the state, 
please share which ERP Systems are integrated with 
each Gateway. (e.g. Agency -> ERP -> Gateway) 

The Treasurer’s Office does not have this information. 

Do any agencies accept PIN Debit transactions? (A). 
What is annual dollar volume of PIN debit transactions? 
(B). What is annual transaction volume of PIN debit 
transactions? 

This is specific to an Agency; therefore, the Treasurer’s 
Office does not have this information. 

Appendix 2: Do you any [sic] the Agencies accept any 
other payment method, like PIN Debit, e-Check, etc.?  If 
so, what device or software solution do they use to 
accept that payment method. 

Some Agencies accept other payment methods. The 
Treasurer’s Office does not have this information. That is 
outside the scope of this RFP. 

Are you currently accepting ACH/eChecks?  Some Agencies accept ACH/eChecks. That is outside the 
scope of this RFP. 

Projected ACH/eCheck Annual Volume That is outside the scope of this RFP. 

Appendix 2 & 3: Please provide the annual dollar 
volume and number of credit/debit transactions for 
each Agency accepting card payments. 

The Treasurer’s Office does not have this information by 
Agency; Appendix 3 shows the merchant transaction 
volumes in aggregate. 

IVR Hosting:  Do you currently host your IVR? If not, 
what vendor is hosting? How many agencies currently 
accept payments via IVR? 

Each Agency contracts for its own IVR service; therefore, 
the Treasurer’s Office does not have this information. 

IVR questions: (A). How many agencies use IVR? (B). 
What is the IVR transaction count per agency? (C). Is 
the IVR part of the gateway offering or stand-alone? 
(D). What is the avg call time per IVR interaction? 

Each Agency contracts for its own IVR service; therefore, 
the Treasurer’s Office does not have this information. 

Appendix 3: Please provide the annual transaction 
count, annual processing volume$ [sic] and average 
ticket amount broken out by each agency that 
participates in the absorbed processing model where 
the agency bears the expense of paying the merchant 
services fees. 

Each Agency makes its own decision about service fees; 
therefore, the Treasurer’s Office does not have this 
information. 
 

https://tos.ohio.gov/Files/Pdfs/RFP/Agency%20MID%20count.pdf
https://tos.ohio.gov/Files/Pdfs/RFP/Agency%20MID%20count.pdf
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Appendices and Exhibits (continued) 

Respondent Question Treasurer’s Office Answer 

Appendix 3: Please provide the annual transaction 
count, annual processing volume$ [sic] and average 
ticket broken out by agency that utilizes the service fee 
program to pass the cost of processing to the 
consumers. 

Each Agency makes its own decision about service fees; 
therefore, the Treasurer’s Office does not have this 
information. 
 

Appendix 3: Does the processing volume$ [sic] and 
transaction count in Appendix 3 include Ohio 
Department of Motor Vehicles for license, tag, and 
renewals? 

Appendix 3 includes some, but not all, of Ohio 
Department of Motor Vehicles dollar volumes and 
transactions for license, tag, and renewals.  

Can the State please provide more detailed use cases or 
provide a list showing which agencies use which 
gateways/platforms? Can the State please provide a list 
of the software (provider, software name and version 
number) the gateways listed are integrated to? 

Agencies select their own gateways; therefore, the 
Treasurer’s Office does not have this information. 

Does the State and/or its Agencies intend to replace 
any of the payment gateways listed in Appendix 5? 

Agencies select their own gateways; therefore, the 
Treasurer’s Office is not involved in that process and has 
no knowledge of an Agency’s plans. 

Is the awarded processor required to maintain 
integrations with the State’s existing list of approved 
gateways, or may respondents propose alternative 
gateway solutions that meet or exceed the current 
functional and security requirements? 

Agencies select their own gateways. Proposing 
alternative gateway solutions is outside the scope of this 
RFP. 

If an equivalent or superior solution is proposed – 
specifically related to gateway functionality, reporting, 
or transaction routing – will the State consider it in 
place of the currently deployed gateways? 

Agencies select their own gateways. Proposing 
alternative gateway solutions is outside the scope of this 
RFP. 

Will the State allow the awarded processor to introduce 
additional gateway or platform integrations in the 
future if they provide improved efficiency, security, or 
cost benefits to the State? 

Agencies select their own gateways, and the BOD has no 
authority over the gateways. 

Appendix 5: Are you planning to use each of these 
gateways for different areas/verticals, or are you 
choosing between them to determine which will be 
used? 

Agencies select their own gateways, and the BOD has no 
authority over the gateways. Therefore, the current 
usage of gateways will be unchanged by this RFP. 

Please specify which vertical or business area each 
gateway will be assigned to. 

Agencies select their own gateways.  

Appendix 5: Do you have a multi-award contract for the 
fourteen gateways listed in Appendix 5? 

Agencies select and contract for their own gateways. 
However, pursuant to ORC section 113.40, the BOD has 
authority over the end processor(s). The gateways must 
be certified with a BOD-approved end processor.  

Appendix 5: If you do not have a multi-award contract 
for the gateways listed in Appendix 5 how were these 
gateways procured? 

Agencies select and contract for their own gateways. 
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Appendices and Exhibits (continued) 

Respondent Question Treasurer’s Office Answer 

The RFP references multiple existing gateway providers 
(e.g., ACI, Authorize.Net, Grant Street, Payroc/ 
Worldnet) currently used by State Agencies. Could the 
Treasurer's Office clarify the rationale for requiring the 
awarded Merchant Services Provider to interface with a 
variety of third-party gateways? Are there specific 
operational benefits, security considerations, or 
statutory obligations driving this multi-gateway 
approach? 

Agencies select and contract for their own gateways. 
However, pursuant to ORC section 113.40, the BOD has 
authority over the end processor(s). The gateways must 
be certified with a BOD-approved end processor. 

To ensure a competitive procurement process and 
avoid limiting Respondents that offer equivalent or 
enhanced functionality, would the Treasurer's Office 
consider proposals that include the Respondent’s own 
gateway or integrated payment acceptance solution, 
provided it meets all functional, security, and reporting 
requirements of the RFP? 

Agencies select their own gateways, and the BOD has no 
authority over the gateways. This RFP only pertains to 
end card processing services. 

Are the gateway providers listed in Appendix 5 
committed to cooperating with the awarded Merchant 
Services Provider to facilitate integration, certification, 
and testing during implementation? 

Agencies select and contract for their own gateways. 
However, pursuant to ORC section 113.40, the BOD has 
authority over the end processor(s). The gateways must 
be certified with a BOD-approved end processor. 

Appendix 5: Some of the listed gateways, [sic] are 
software application solutions, not gateways - Amano 
McGann, Parking BOXX, and Active Works. Are these 
solutions integrated directly to the merchant processor 
or integrated through a payment gateway?  If using a 
gateway, please identify the gateway used by each of 
these software applications. 

Amano McGann and Active Works are no longer utilized 
by the State; Payroc/Worldnet is the gateway for Parking 
BOXX.  This gateway integrates with the current end 
processor. 

Appendix 6: Can you provide column level definitions 
for the data elements included in appendix 6? 

The current specifications can be found HERE.  

Appendix 6: Are there any other data elements that the 
State requires that are not included in appendix 6? 

No. 

Appendix 6: Please provide an example with sample, 
not actual data for file [sic] that you receive from your 
current merchant services provider with representative 
data that can be tied back to the data element example 
provided in Appendix 6. 

The file layout utilized by our current merchant services 
vendor can be found HERE. 

Appendix 6: Please explain how the State ingests the 
data file from your current merchant services provider. 
Does the merchant provider upload the file to the OAKS 
system or does state download the file from the 
merchant services provider and use an ETL tool to 
import the data into OAKS? 

This is done by the Office of Information Technology (OIT) 
within the Ohio Department of Administrative Services 
(DAS). DAS OIT retrieves the file from the current 
merchant services provider everyday, including holidays 
and weekends. DAS sends the file to OAKS SFTP on 
weekdays. 

  

https://tos.ohio.gov/Files/Pdfs/RFP/File%20Specifications.pdf
https://tos.ohio.gov/Files/Pdfs/RFP/File%20Specifications.pdf


BOD Merchant Services Request for Proposal   
Respondent Questions & Treasurer’s Office Answers  Page 15 of 15 

Appendices and Exhibits (continued) 

Respondent Question Treasurer’s Office Answer 

Exhibit 1. Could the State clarify if this should be fill in 
the blank or if applicable requirement boxes are 
missing from the exhibit in which the State expects 
vendors to check? 

Fill in the requested information. The allusion to 
checkboxes was in error. 

 


